**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-10-03251
Appellate Case No. 2019-002046

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

Rosemary Connelly,

Respondent,

v.

Winsor Custom Homes, LLC,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

YOUNG CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488

Attorneys for Petitioner

RECEIVED

Sep 15 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff/Respondent, Rosemary Connelly (“Mrs. Connelly”), tripped and fell while jogging on the sidewalk in front of a new home that general contractor Defendant/Petitioner, Winsor Custom Homes, LLC (“Winsor”), was building at 1376 Smythe Street on Daniel Island (the “Premises”). Mrs. Connelly claims Winsor is liable for the dangerous condition of the sidewalk abutting its construction site, specifically, *this* condition (the “Claimed Accident Condition”):



South Carolina follows the rule of law in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 343A, regarding “Known or Obvious Dangers,” which holds that “[a] possessor of

land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness.”

Mrs. Connelly’s claim against Winsor flies squarely in the face of § 343A. *She flat out admits that she saw the dangerous condition beforehand, that she recognized it as a hazard, and that she nonetheless chose to encounter it—not stopping or even slowing her pace, nor simply making use of the readymade safe alternative route provided by the charming Daniel Island street she was jogging alongside, but instead just trying to alter her running stride around it (to “just sort of jog over to the left a little bit”), and indeed she thought she had successfully done so until, she says, the wind blew black plastic material into contact with her foot.* Properly judged against the § 343A standard, the evidence presented admits of but one reasonable conclusion: Winsor is not liable to Mrs. Connelly for the subject accident.

The trial court, however, ruled that § 343A did not apply to Mrs. Connelly’s claim against Winsor and, thus, not only denied Winsor judgment as a matter of law based on § 343A but also refused to charge the jury on § 343A at all.

As it now stands, in the wake of a jury trial, unsuccessful post-trial motions, and an unfavorable decision from the Court of Appeals (the “Subject Decision”), Winsor has a \$325,000 judgment against it when, quite simply, it should not. Most

respectfully, Winsor contends, first and foremost, it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, but at a minimum, it should be granted a new trial.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED¹

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court’s denial of Winsor’s motions for judgment as a matter of law? Specifically, should the Court of Appeals have instead found that § 343A applies to Mrs. Connelly’s claim against Winsor and that, properly judged against the § 343A legal standard, the only reasonable conclusion to draw from the evidence is that Winsor is not liable to Mrs. Connelly for the subject accident?**²
- II. Assuming, *arguendo*, Winsor is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law, is it entitled to a new trial? Specifically, should the Court of Appeals have found that § 343A’s applicability to Mrs. Connelly’s claim against Winsor is supported in law and fact and that the trial court committed reversible error in refusing to charge the jury on § 343A?**³

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The subject accident happened on June 6, 2011. Mrs. Connelly commenced this lawsuit in Charleston County on June 4, 2013, in the Court of Common Pleas.

¹ Per the Court’s order of August 10, 2020, Winsor’s petition for a writ of certiorari to review the Subject Decision is granted only as to Questions IIA2 and IIB3 therein. Question/Argument I in this brief corresponds to Question IIA2 in Winsor’s petition. Question/Argument II in this brief corresponds to Question IIB3 in Winsor’s petition.

² This Question, and its matching Argument, covers the trial court’s error in denying Winsor’s directed verdict and JNOV motions, and the Court of Appeals’ error in failing to recognize the same.

³ This Question, and its matching Argument, covers the trial court’s error in refusing to charge the jury on § 343A and in denying Winsor’s motion for a new trial in light of that error, and the Court of Appeals’ error in failing to recognize the same.

(See R. pp. 7–14.)⁴ Referring to herself as “an invitee of the sidewalk or right of way at the sidewalk located directly in front of and at the Premises”⁵ and to “Winsor . . . as . . . an[] agent[] of the owners of the Premises . . . ow[ing] [her] a duty to exercise reasonable and ordinary care for the safety and well-being of persons passing by on the [sidewalk] at the Premises,”⁶ Mrs. Connelly alleged that the silt fence Winsor had installed (in conjunction with the new home it was building on the Premises at the time of the subject accident) “was in disrepair and was encroaching on the sidewalk or right of way at various places along, within, and/or abutting the property line of the Premises and the sidewalk or right of way”⁷ and that, “through no fault of her own,”⁸ she was caused to trip and fall when, “[w]hile [she] was jogging on the sidewalk located on the Premises,”⁹ “her leg became entangled with the black plastic barrier fence that was intruding onto the sidewalk.” (R. p. 11 ¶ 28.) She asserted a single cause of action styled “Negligence/Negligence Per Se/Gross Negligence.” (R. p. 12 ¶ 37–p. 14 ¶ 45.)

⁴ As reflected in the caption of her summons and complaint, Mrs. Connelly sued four other defendants besides Winsor. By the time of trial, however, Winsor was the only defendant remaining in the case, and the trial court amended the caption to its present form. (R. p. 1.)

⁵ (R. p. 11 ¶ 24.)

⁶ (R. p. 12 ¶ 39.)

⁷ (R. p. 10 ¶ 22.)

⁸ (R. p. 11 ¶ 28.)

⁹ (R. p. 11 ¶ 26.)

Winsor timely answered, denying Mrs. Connelly's material allegations and pleading a number of affirmative defenses,¹⁰ and following a period of discovery, on August 25, 2015, the case came on for a jury trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. (R. pp. 27–638.)

At the close of Mrs. Connelly's case, and again at the close of all evidence, Winsor unsuccessfully moved for a directed verdict, arguing, among other things, the evidence was such that, as a matter of law, it was not liable to Mrs. Connelly under § 343A. (R. pp. 491:21–503:7, pp. 563:15–564:8, pp. 1234–37.) The trial court not only denied Winsor's directed verdict motions but also refused even to charge the jury on § 343A, finding it inapplicable to Mrs. Connelly's claim. (R. pp. 613:13–633:1, pp. 1238–41.)

On August 28, 2015, the jury returned a verdict finding Winsor caused Mrs. Connelly \$500,000 in damages but also finding Mrs. Connelly 35% comparatively negligent. (R. pp. 3–5, pp. 634:5–636:10.)¹¹ The trial court then entered judgment

¹⁰ (R. pp. 15–26.)

¹¹ For context, as explained with respect to Question/Argument IIB2 in Winsor's petition for a writ of certiorari (as to which the Court denied cert), the trial court granted a partial directed verdict against Winsor as to liability, determining as a matter of law that it had breached a legal duty to Mrs. Connelly to maintain the silt fence, and thus sent the case to the jury to determine issues of proximate cause, comparative negligence, and damages. (R. pp. 3–5, pp. 556:8–563:15, pp. 565:22–566:17, pp. 613:13–633:1.)

in favor of Mrs. Connelly, against Winsor, in the amount of \$325,000, i.e., \$500,000 reduced by 35%. (R. p. 2.)¹²

Winsor timely served/filed its notice of appeal on February 26, 2016, following the trial court's hearing and denial of its timely post-trial motions, which had sought JNOV or, alternatively, a new trial. (R. pp. 639–711, pp. 1243–1305.) The Court of Appeals filed the Subject Decision on August 7, 2019, affirming the trial court. (App. pp. 1435–38.) Winsor's timely petition for rehearing was denied on November 15, 2019. (App. pp. 1439–77.)

By order filed August 10, 2020, this Court granted Winsor's timely petition for a writ of certiorari to review the Subject Decision as to Questions IIA2 and IIB3 in Winsor's petition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Though herself a resident of Sullivan's Island, Mrs. Connelly had been regularly jogging on Daniel Island for several years before the subject accident. Her

¹² For context, as explained with respect to Questions/Arguments IIB4 and IIB5 in Winsor's petition for a writ of certiorari (as to which the Court denied cert), far and away, the most substantial damage Mrs. Connelly claimed as a result of the subject accident was the alleged loss of her sense of smell and diminished sense of taste. (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 140:10–16.) Mrs. Connelly's other claimed damages are quite modest in comparison—chief among them a nondisplaced-to-minimally-displaced nasal fracture and related surgical procedure, which procedure Mrs. Connelly elected to combine with unrelated cosmetic enhancements. (R. p. 1123, pp. 1134–35, pp. 1137–38.) Her only claimed pecuniary loss consists of medical expenses totaling less than \$13,500. (R. p. 1198.)

friend Cori Smith (“Smith”), a fitness trainer by trade, lived on Daniel Island, and three days a week on average, Mrs. Connelly would drive over to run with Smith. (R. p. 158:3–5, pp. 161:17–163:9, pp. 209:20–210:7, R. pp. 328:14–329:4, pp. 329:16–331:8.)

The subject accident happened on a windy, but otherwise pleasant, Monday morning about 9:15 a.m., when, while out jogging with Smith, about halfway through their run, Mrs. Connelly tripped and fell on the sidewalk in front of the Premises. Winsor was in the process of building a house on the Premises at the time and, as required by the Daniel Island Architectural Review Board (“ARB”), had installed a silt fence—made of black plastic attached to wooden support stakes—around the perimeter of the Premises for erosion control. (R. pp. 402:4–404:20, pp. 1210–1216.)¹³

Mrs. Connelly claims the subject accident happened because the silt fence was in disrepair, with downed detached black plastic fence material obstructing the sidewalk. Indeed, she claims the silt fence was in *obvious* disrepair and looked as depicted in the photo Bates Labeled RMC 96, i.e., the Claimed Accident Condition depicted in the introduction to this brief. (R. p. 164:4–10, p. 337:1–11, pp. 378:18–

¹³ As a builder on Daniel Island, Winsor had to abide by the ARB’s construction guidelines, which required it to, among other things, “[i]ninstall erosion control measures (silt fencing) to the perimeter of the [Premises].” (*See generally* R. pp. 1211–1214.)

379:9, p. 576:11–15, pp. 1217–1218.)¹⁴ Not only that, *Mrs. Connelly admits that she saw the dangerous condition beforehand, that she recognized it as a hazard, and that she nonetheless chose to encounter it—that she just tried to alter her running stride around it (to “just sort of jog over to the left a little bit”), and indeed she thought she had successfully done so until, she says, the wind blew black plastic silt fence material into contact with her foot:*

From Mrs. Connelly’s Testimony

[PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL]: All right. Let me show you the photo of -- that we have of [the Premises (i.e., the Claimed Accident Condition)], and let me ask you, [Mrs. Connelly], take a look at it. And the jury can all see it. Does that accurately depict what [the Premises] looked like that day?

[MRS. CONNELLY]: I would say yes. Maybe, you know, an inch here or an inch there, but I would say overall, yes.

(R. p. 164:4–10.)

[PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL]: Okay. *Did you see that when you came upon it that day?*

[MRS. CONNELLY]: Well, when I run, I look forward. I look down. And, yes, I saw there was plastic.

¹⁴ Smith took this picture (i.e., the photo depicting the Claimed Accident Condition) the day after the subject accident at the request of Mrs. Connelly’s husband, Bill Connelly, an attorney. (R. pp. 241:23–242:23, p. 336:7–16, pp. 362:19–364:25.) The accident location is in the foreground, and the sidewalk along which the ladies were running as they approached it is in the background. In other words, they were running toward the place where Smith was standing when she took the photo, with the Premises to their right. (R. p. 336:3–20.)

I mean, I avoided it. I tried to avoid it, to not go -- you know, you adjust your running when you go -- and I run a 10 minute mile. I'm not saying I'm running any great distance here. Okay. And -- but I adjust to see what kind of conditions are -- you know, if there's a stop sign, I'm going to stop at the stop sign and look both ways crossing the street. So, yeah, I saw that there was something black, yes.

(R. p. 165:9–20 (emphasis added).)

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Okay. Tell the jury *as you came upon this fence*, to the best of your recollection, what happened?

[MRS. CONNELLY]: Okay. I'm running down here. [Smith] is running -- I'm on the right hand -- I'm on the right hand side, and she's on the left hand side. And so she's -- *I'm running a little bit faster than she is to get through there*. You know, I put my foot down -- I put my left foot down, you're running, you're running you're running, you're running.

It was a windy day. I saw a fluttering motion of this black plastic. The plastic is like garbage can plastic, you know, that sort of -- you know, it's thin. I ran to avoid it -- excuse me -- when I put my left foot down, I had my right foot up, and it caught on the plastic, and I fell forward, I -- toward my body. . . .

(R. p. 166:4–18 (emphasis added).)

From Smith's Testimony

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Is this picture [(i.e., the Claimed Accident Condition)] -- does it accurately represent your memory of what the tarp looked like on June 6, 2011?

[SMITH]: Uh-huh, yes, sir.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: How was the weather that day?

[SMITH]: It was nice. It was *windy*, but nice.

(R. p. 337:1–6 (emphasis added).)

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Tell the ladies and gentlemen of the jury what happened as you and [Mrs. Connelly] ran past [the Premises] and *came upon this black plastic barrier?*

[SMITH]: *We were running past it*, and it was fine, and just going at a normal stride. And she stepped down and the tarp kind of flew up a little bit and got her foot, and she tripped and fell on her head.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: A couple things I want to go over on that. First of all, did you see any movement in the tarp from the wind as you were approaching it?

[SMITH]: I mean it was moving just a little bit, like a -- *you could tell it was windy*, but not crazy movement.

[PLAINTIFF'S COUNSEL]: Well, was it flopping up and down like a garbage bag or something like that?

[SMITH]: No. No. *It was like just fluttering like wind would do to something.*

(R. pp. 337:12–338:2 (emphasis added).)

From Mrs. Connelly's Counsel's Opening Statement

On . . . June 6, 2011, as [Mrs. Connelly and Smith] *approached that black plastic barrier fence . . . as they were jogging . . . they saw that the fence was partially in the sidewalk*, they did what many of us may have done. And that's *they just sort of jogged over to the left a little bit, because there was plenty of sidewalk there still.*

. . . And [Mrs. Connelly] sort of jogged a little bit to the left to avoid it. It was a little bit of a windy day, and that black plastic barrier -- it's kind of *made of a light, almost like hefty bag material* -- all right. . . .

And what happened was when it moved a little bit in the wind, . . . it caught [Mrs. Connelly's] right foot and she went forward. . . .

(R. pp. 137:10–138:9 (emphasis added).)

From Mrs. Connelly's Counsel's Closing Argument

You folks have seen that photo [(referring to the Claimed Accident Condition)] over and over and over again in this trial. And *the fence was laying in the sidewalk, partially in the sidewalk*. All right. *That's what it looked like on June 6, 2011. The photo was taken on the next day, June 7, 2011.* . . .

(R. p. 576:11–14 (emphasis added).)

[W]hen [Mrs. Connelly and Smith] saw the fence was down a little bit, they did what most of us would do. If it's over here, just sort of jog over to the left a little bit. And, unfortunately, the wind caught it a little bit, and it caught [Mrs. Connelly's] foot. And the accident happened. You all heard that. . . .

(R. pp. 577:21–578:1 (emphasis added).)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Re: Motions for Directed Verdict and JNOV

“In ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in

the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions and to deny the motions where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” *Strange v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Public Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 429–30, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 (1994). When considering such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. *Creech v. S.C. Wildlife & Marine Resources Dep’t*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997). Essentially, the job of the reviewing court is the same as the trial court: to determine whether a verdict for a party opposing the motion is reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his favor. *Bultman v. Barber*, 277 S.C. 5, 7, 281 S.E.2d 791, 792 (1981). “If the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, the case should be submitted to the jury.” *Quesinberry v. Rouppasong*, 331 S.C. 589, 594, 503 S.E.2d 717, 720 (1998). This rule, however, does not authorize submission of speculative, theoretical, or hypothetical views to the jury. *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997).

Re: Requests for Jury Charges and New Trial Motions

Requests for jury charges and motions for a new trial are within the discretion of the trial court and subject to an abuse-of-discretion standard of review. *Brinkley v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 386 S.C. 182, 185, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App. 2009) (new trial motions); *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008) (jury charge

requests). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” *Cole*, 378 S.C. at 404, 663 S.E.2d at 33.

The trial court has a duty to give a requested jury instruction that correctly states the law applicable to the issues and evidence. *Wall v. Suits*, 318 S.C. 377, 458 S.E.2d 43 (Ct. App. 1995). If the requested charge states a sound principle of law that is applicable to the case and not otherwise covered by the charge, refusal to charge it is error and requires a new trial. *Sanders v. Western Auto Supply Co.*, 256 S.C. 490, 183 S.E.2d 321 (1971). Moreover, when general instructions to the jury are insufficient to enable the jury to understand fully the law of the case and issues involved, a refusal to give a requested charge is reversible error. *Jones v. Ridgely Communications, Inc.*, 304 S.C. 452, 405 S.E.2d 402 (1991).

Re: Questions of Law

The appellate court “is free to decide questions of law . . . with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 482, 765 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2014).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s denial of Winsor’s motions for judgment as a matter of law. Section 343A applies to Mrs. Connelly’s claim against Winsor. Properly judged against this legal standard, the evidence admits of but one reasonable conclusion: Winsor is not liable to Mrs. Connelly for the subject accident.**

This case is—as indeed Mrs. Connelly herself pleaded it (*see* Statement of the Case, *supra*)—a premises liability case. Under a premises liability theory, a contractor, generally equates to an invitor and has the same duties that the property owner would have to invitees. *See Lane v. Gilbert Constr. Co. Ltd.*, 383 S.C. 590, 681 S.E.2d 879 (2009). While the general rule is an abutting landowner or occupier does not owe a duty of care with respect to the safety of the sidewalk there are exceptions where such a duty is imposed by legislation, where the abutter creates an unsafe condition on the sidewalk, or the abutter has a special property interest in the sidewalk. *Shaw v. City of Charleston*, 351 S.C. 32, 43, 567 S.E.2d 530, 535–36 (2002) (quoting *Epps v. U.S.*, 862 F. Supp. 1460, 1464 (D.S.C. 1994)). In other words, the abutter’s (in this case Winsor’s) duty normally stops at the property line. But where an exception to the general rule is at issue (as it is here based on Mrs. Connelly’s claim that Winsor is liable for the Claimed Accident Condition) the abutter’s duty extends to the sidewalk, i.e., to the extent of the land which, by virtue of the exception at issue, the abutter is deemed to owe the duty of a possessor.

Naturally, the applicability of § 343A follows suit—it would make no sense for it to be otherwise.

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