**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 09 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Charleston County  
Court of Common Pleas

J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2019-002046

---

On Writ of Certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court

---

Rosemary Connelly, .....Respondent,

v.

Winsor Custom Homes, LLC .....Petitioner.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Christy Ford Allen (SC Bar #15649)  
John A. Massalon (SC Bar #10279)  
WILLS MASSALON & ALLEN LLC  
Post Office Box 859  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402  
(843) 727-1144  
[callen@wmalawfirm.net](mailto:callen@wmalawfirm.net).

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

## V. ARGUMENT

When reviewing the trial judge’s denial of a motion for directed verdict, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Futch v. McAllister Towing, 335 S.C. 598, 518 S.E.2d 591 (1999). The trial court can only be

reversed if there is no evidence to support the ruling below. Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife & Marine Resources Dept., 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.C. 571 (1997).

- a. As a matter of law, Winsor was not entitled to directed verdict on the grounds of the known or obvious doctrine as set forth in § 343A, and therefore the trial court did not err in denying the motion.

Section 343A of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS states:

A possessor of land is not liable to his invitees for physical harm caused to them by any activity or condition on the land whose danger is known or obvious to them, unless the possessor should anticipate the harm despite such knowledge or obviousness. In determining whether the possessor should anticipate harm from a known or obvious danger, the fact that the invitee is entitled to make use of public land, or of the facilities of a public utility, is a factor of importance indicating that the harm should be anticipated. (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

In addressing premises liability as it relates to an invitee, this rule or doctrine was specifically adopted in Callander v. Charleston Doughnut Corp., 305 S.C. 123, 406 S.E.2d 361 (1991). Prior to Callander, a storekeeper or invitor owed no duty to warn of open and obvious conditions. It was effectively an absolute bar to recovery. After Callander, an invitor who had reason to or should have anticipated the harm had a duty of care to its patron or invitee, even if the condition were open and obvious. Id. In Callander, the injured party was a patron to the doughnut shop, and § 343A speaks directly to the duty owed an invitee. Comment e to §343A elaborates that “in the ordinary case, an invitee who enters land is entitled to nothing more than knowledge of the conditions he will encounter if he comes. If he knows the actual conditions, activities carried on,

---

<sup>3</sup> Section 343 of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS is entitled Dangerous Conditions Known to or Discoverable by Possessor, and speaks directly to liability for physical harm “to his invitees”. Section 343(A) should be considered a subset of § 343, which provides:

A possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm caused to his invitees by a condition on the land if, but only if, he (a) knows or by the exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition, and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to such invitees, and (b) should expect that they will not discover or realize the danger, or will fail to protect themselves against it, and (c) fails to exercise reasonable care to protect them against the danger.

and the dangers involved in either, he is free to make an intelligent choice as to whether the advantage to be gained [by entering the land of the other] is sufficient to justify him in incurring the risk by entering or remaining on the land.”

This Court has stated that Callander, and Meadows v. Heritage Village Church, 305 S.C. 375, 409 S.E.2d 349 (1991), are seminal South Carolina cases interpreting § 343A. However, both are distinguishable from the case at bar. In Meadows, a visitor to the PTL’s Heritage Village, brought a negligence action against PTL because of injuries she sustained when she slipped on some wet grass while walking across the PTL property to the hotel (also on the PTL property). The court found that wet grass was an open and obvious danger absent a showing that PTL should have anticipated the harm the plaintiff suffered. Meadows chose to walk over wet grass instead of using other paths provided to patrons by the PTL to the PTL hotel. And, the court found that plaintiff had not shown PTL could reasonably have foreseen she would try to cross wet grass instead of using one of the other provided ways back to the hotel. Id. at 378, 409 S.E.2d at 351. Here, the Connelly was rightfully travelling along a public Sidewalk abutting the construction site. There is no evidence that Winsor provided or created some other pathway for those on the Sidewalk to use, such that there would be no reason to travel around the construction debris. Furthermore, the §343A cases all involve allegations that the owner or operator of the property created a dangerous condition which was then confronted by “invitees” onto its property, or where the dangerous condition was located (regardless of who created it) on the property the invitees were invited to enter.

Throughout this case, and without any factual basis, Winsor has repeatedly asserted that Connelly should be treated as an “invitee.” It is well recognized that invitee status is granted a person who enters a property belonging to another by invitation, and where said entry is connected

with the property or an activity that allows invitees on the property -- there is a mutuality of benefit between the invitee and property owner. See, e.g., Sims v. Giles, 343 S.C. 708, 541 S.E.3d 857 (2001) (finding a SCE&G meter reader on site for the benefit of the owner as part of the provision of power from the utility to the homeowner an invitee). “Invitees include patrons of stores, patients in a physician’s office, persons visiting a filling station to use the restroom or vending machine or to ask directions, and workmen invited to work on the premises.” F.P. Hubbard & R. L. Felix, SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OF TORTS 112-13 (2<sup>nd</sup> ed. 1997)(footnotes omitted)). Because Connelly was not an invitee, and because Connelly did not enter the “premises” which Winsor possessed, the trial court was correct in finding § 343A’s “known and obvious doctrine” had no application to the facts of this case. There is zero evidence that Connelly entered the Homesite under possession or control of Winsor. Winsor does not deny that Connelly was injured on the Sidewalk. Instead, Connelly was injured “off the premises” while running along a public Sidewalk.<sup>4</sup>

With regard to persons “off the premises” and on a public right of way adjacent to the owner/occupier’s land, the “landowner owes those on a public right of way adjacent to his land a duty of due care in the conduct of activities on his land.” Hubbard & Felix, SC LAW OF TORTS, p. 60, note 82. A person must use due to care to insure persons “outside of his premises” are not injured by “*activities* on the premises or by an *artificial* condition or structure which he constructs or know of on his land.” Id. pp. 123-24 (emphasis in original). In Epps v. United States, 862 F.Supp.2d 1460 (D.S.C 1994), (also cited in SC LAW OF TORTS at. p. 124, n. 442), the district court

---

<sup>4</sup> Not only was there no evidence that Winsor owned, possessed or controlled the Sidewalk which might permit that question to go to a jury, Winsor did not attempt to introduce evidence of ownership, possession or control of that portion of the Sidewalk. (R., p. 440)

thoroughly analyzed the nature of the duty owed when one controls property abutting a public sidewalk explaining that, in South Carolina

the general rule appears to be that an abutting landowner or occupier normally does not have a duty of care with respect to the safety of the sidewalk *unless* such a duty is imposed by legislation, *the abutter created an unsafe condition on the sidewalk*, or the abutter has a special property interest in the sidewalk. . . . See 39 Am.Jur.2d Highways, Streets, and Bridges § 365 (1968) ("An owner or occupant of land abutting on a highway, street, or sidewalk, who does not enjoy a private servitude in the way, does not, in the absence of statute or ordinance to the contrary, owe to the public a duty to keep the way in a safe condition, and is generally held not liable for injuries sustained by travelers thereon as a result of conditions which he has not *been instrumental in creating or maintaining*") . . . This is also the English common law rule . . . .

Id. at 1464. (emphasis added). Whether a duty arises in a given case may depend on the existence of particular facts. Carson v. Adgar, 326 S.C. 212, 486 S.E.2d 3 (1997).<sup>5</sup>

In its Brief, Winsor recognizes the general rule that an abutting landowner or occupier does not owe a duty of care with respect to the safety of the sidewalk, unless that abutter creates an unsafe condition on the sidewalk, or the abutter has a special property interest in the sidewalk, (Br. p. 14), citing Shaw v. City of Charleston, 351 S.C. 32, 567 S.E.2d 530 (Ct. App. 2002). However, this is not the basis on which Winsor argues for reversal. The Shaw case, while at first glance factually somewhat similar, addressed whether summary judgment was appropriate when there was a factual dispute over ownership or control of the area in question – a hole next to and under a coal grate within the sidewalk abutting a private home – and whether the city (the owner of the sidewalk and a defendant) undertook to maintain the sidewalk. Id. at 42-43, 567 S.E.2d at

---

<sup>5</sup> RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 371 (1965) states that “a possessor of land is subject to liability for physical harm to others outside of the land caused by an activity carried on by him thereon which he realizes or should realize will involve an unreasonable risk of physical harm to them under the same conditions as though the activity were carried on at a neutral place.” It does not appear this § 371 has ever been addressed by this Court, nor did Winsor raise that issue at trial.

535. Shaw, however, is telling for other reasons: (1) it makes no mention of § 343A or the “known or obvious” doctrine; and (2) it approvingly cites to the Epps v. U.S. case, infra. at 11-12, for the general statement of duty of care owed by an abutter to the sidewalk, who creates or maintains an unsafe condition, to those using the sidewalk. Id. The standards set forth in Epps and Shaw state the current and correct law, and the trial court’s denial of the directed verdict to Winsor and refusal to charge §343A is completely consistent with that law.<sup>6</sup>

After Winsor cites to Shaw on page 14 of its brief, Winsor leaps to the following conclusion: “naturally, the applicability of 343A follows suit – it would make no sense for it to be otherwise.” (Br. p. 15). This conclusion, however, is not supported by current South Carolina law, nor a citation to any law in any jurisdiction. Winsor’s argument that it was entitled to a directed verdict as a matter of law appears more akin to the defense that Connelly assumed the risk when she continued to run along the Sidewalk after seeing the black plastic debris fluttering in the wind to the edge of the Sidewalk. However, in Davenport v. Cotton Hope Plantation Horizontal Property Regime, 333 S.C. 71, 508 S.E.2d 565 (1998), this Court rejected the absolute/common law defense of assumption of the risk as conflicting with South Carolina’s comparative fault system. The plaintiff in Davenport was injured in a darkened stairwell of his condominium, and sued the regime (which then asserted third-party claims against the maintenance contractor hired by the regime tasked with maintaining the lighting). The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s decision directing a verdict for the defendant on grounds that the plaintiff assumed the risk (or was more than 51% negligent), and held for the first time that the common law defense of assumption of the risk has been abrogated by South Carolina’s modified comparative fault system. 325 S.C. 507,

---

<sup>6</sup> The court of appeals affirmed the trial court’s grant of directed verdict to Connelly on the duty of care and breach. This Court did not accept certiorari on those grounds, and therefore those rulings would appear to be the law of this case.

513-14, 482 S.E.2d 569, 574 (Ct.App.1997). In reviewing Davenport, this Court analyzed the continuing viability of assumption of the risk in South Carolina's comparative negligence system:

[I]t is contrary to the premise of our comparative fault system to require a plaintiff, who is fifty-percent or less at fault, to bear all of the costs of the injury. In accord with this logic, the defendant's fault in causing an accident is not diminished solely because the plaintiff knowingly assumes a risk. If assumption of risk is retained in its current common law form, a plaintiff would be completely barred from recovery even if his conduct is reasonable or only slightly unreasonable. In our comparative fault system, it would be incongruous to absolve the defendant of all liability based only on whether the plaintiff assumed the risk of injury. Comparative negligence by definition seeks to assess and compare the negligence of both the plaintiff and defendant. This goal would clearly be thwarted by adhering to the common law defense of assumption of risk.

Davenport, 333 S.C. at 86, 508 S.E.2d at 573. Based upon the foregoing, the Court concluded “a plaintiff is not barred from recovery by the doctrine of assumption of risk unless the degree of fault arising therefrom is greater than the negligence of the defendant.” Id. at 87, 508 S.E.2d at 573-74. In this case, the trial court denied Winsor's motions and argument that no reasonable juror could find that Connelly's fault was less than any negligence on the part of Winsor. The jury determined Connelly's fault was less than the negligence of Winsor, and this Court did not accept certiorari to review that issue.

The “known or obvious” doctrine has been similarly criticized in other jurisdictions as inherently inconsistent with modern comparative negligence schemes, and abolished in a growing number of states. See Hersh v. E-T Enterprises, Ltd. Partnership, 752 S.E.2d 336 (W. Va. 2013) (overruled by statute on other grounds) (abolishing open and obvious doctrine in premises liability, and holding that plaintiff's confrontation of an open and obvious hazard is merely an element of comparative fault); Steigman v. Outrigger Enterprises, Inc., P.2d 1238 (Haw. 2011) (detailed discussion of split among states on how to address § 343A and joining the states abolishing the

known or obvious defense in favor of comparative negligence consideration of the same); Tharp v. Bunge Corp., 641 So.2d 20, 25 (Miss.1994) (abolishing the known or obvious danger defense in favor of comparative negligence); Harrison v. Taylor, 768 P.2d 1321, 1326 (Idaho 1989) (same); O'Donnell v. City of Casper, 696 P.2d 1278, 1284 (Wyo. 1985) (abolishing open and obvious concept for man-created hazards); Woolston v. Wells, 687 P.2d 144, 149–50 (Or. 1984); Parker v. Highland Park, Inc., 565 S.W.2d 512, 517 (Tex. 1978). See generally End, James P., *The Open And Obvious Doctrine Where Does It Belong In Our Comparative Negligence Regime?* 84 MARQ. L. REV. 445, 489 (2000).; Hubbard & Felix, *SC LAW OF TORTS* at p. 122 & n. 428-437 (discussing criticism of the retention of the traditional scheme of variable duties of care owed to different categories of persons in the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS where the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF TORTS rejects that traditional scheme of categories of persons). South Carolina adopted comparative negligence in all cases, including premises liability, in 1991, the same year of the Callander decision. See Nelson v. Concrete Supply Co., 303 S.C. 243, 245, 399 S.E.2d 783, 784 (1991) (adopting a modified version of comparative negligence known as the “less than or equal to” approach). Under this version, “[f]or all causes of action arising on or after July 1, 1991, a plaintiff in a negligence action may recover damages if his or her negligence is not greater than that of the defendant.” Id.

In the alternative, if this Court were inclined to extend, for the first time, the application of §343(A) to the duty owed by a possessor who creates or maintains a dangerous condition on an abutting sidewalk, this Court should still affirm the trial court’s denial of Winsor’s motion for directed verdict in this case. First, there is evidence from which the jury could infer that Connelly did not subjectively have knowledge of both the condition of the downed plastic and appreciate the danger it involved. Comment b to § 343A reads:

[t]he word “known” denotes not only knowledge of the existence of the condition or activity itself, but also appreciation of the danger it involves. Thus, the condition or activity must not only be known to exist, but it must also be recognized that it is dangerous, and the probability and gravity of the harm must be appreciated. “Obvious” means that both the condition and the risk are apparent to and would be recognized by a reasonable man, in the position of the visitor, exercising ordinary perception, intelligence, and judgment.

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